4.4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

WARNER B. MILLER, III,

Respondent.

Case No. 72,698

The Florida Bar Case No.

87-26, (33 /17C)

MAR 13 1969

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

JACQUELYN P. NEEDELMAN Attorney No. 262846 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue Suite 835 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309 (305) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY Attorney No. 217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Attorney No. 123390
Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300
(904) 222-5286

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an attorney disciplinary proceeding.

The Florida Bar filed a two (2) Count Complaint against the Respondent on July 8, 1988. The Honorable Francis X. Knuck was appointed Referee in this cause. On July 28, 1988, The Florida Bar submitted its Request For Admissions.

On September 7, 1988, Respondent submitted his response to The Florida Bar's Request For Admissions and a Motion To Excuse Late Filing. On September 19, 1988, Respondent filed a further response to The Florida Bar's Request For Admissions.

On December 7, 1988, The Florida Bar filed its Request For Production Of Documents and a Notice that the cause was set for final hearing, to be held on December 22, 1988. On December 9, 1988, The Florida Bar submitted its Notice To Depose Respondent. On December 22, 1988, the final hearing in this cause was held.

On December 30, 1988, the Referee issued his Report of Referee with findings of guilt as to the majority of Count I of the Complaint and not guilty as to Count II. The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review on February 10, 1989.

The Referee found the Respondent guilty as to Count I for violations of Florida Bar Integration Rule, Article XI, Rule 11.02(4)(b), Rules 5-1.1(b), 5-1.1(c), 5-1.1(e), 5-1.2 and 5-1.2(e) of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts. The Referee found the Respondent not guilty of having violated Rule 5-1.1 of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts [using funds for specific purposes for which they were entrusted]. Said recommendation is inconsistent with the Referee's

specific findings that the Respondent had shortages in his trust account, that his trust account was insufficient to cover all trust liabilities and that Respondent continued to use entrusted funds for purposes other than those for which said funds were entrusted (R.R., paragraphs 5 & 7, pages 1-2).

The Referee recommended that the Respondent receive a public reprimand and that he be required to retain a certified public accountant to file a certified accounting of Respondent's trust account with a representative of The Florida Bar on the first of every month for a period of one (1) year.

The record evidences Respondent's failure to maintain minimum trust accounting records in violation of the above mentioned Rules Regulating Trust Accounts, including Rule 5-1.1. (See Exs. 4, 5, 6 and testimony of Carlos J. Ruga, pages 18-42).

As to Count I, Respondent's misconduct concerns an audit and review conducted of his trust account transactions for the periods March 1, 1986 to October 30, 1987 and November 1, 1987 to October 30, 1988, respectively. Contrary to the Referee's finding with respect to Rule 5-1.1, the audit report and the record clearly indicated that Respondent used funds from his trust account for purposes other than that for which said funds were entrusted to him (See The Florida Bar Exs. 4, 5, 6 and testimony of Carlos J. Ruga, T-18-42). Specifically, Respondent wrote to himself, three (3) checks for \$10,000.00, \$16,500.00 and \$1,500.00 (The Florida Bar's Ex. 5), without reference to client or matter, from his trust account to his operating account (T. 27, 31-32, 40).

The audit determined that Respondent failed to maintain required trust accounting records and failed to utilize proper record keeping procedures. During the period audited, Respondent's trust account had substantial shortages and was insufficient to cover his trust liabilities (The Florida Bar's Exhibit 4, T. 27).

During the period November 1, 1987 to October 30, 1988, an audit review was conducted of Respondent's trust transactions. Said review determined that three (3) checks were dishonored for non-sufficient funds during this period and that the Respondent continued to use entrusted funds for purposes other than those for which said funds were entrusted. Concerning the review period, Respondent was already on notice that The Florida Bar was investigating his trust account and continued to misuse same. (The Florida Bar's Ex. 6, T. 30, 40, 59-61, 64). Respondent even admitted on the record that he should not have misused client's funds entrusted to him (T. 52, 59-61, 64).

As to Count II, Respondent made misrepresentations to Harvey Abramson, Esquire, in a letter dated June 18, 1985 (The Florida Bar's Ex. 2), regarding promises to honor Mr. Abramson's attorney's lien for legal services performed by Mr. Abramson for Rosalia Illes, a former client of Mr. Abramson. (Exs. 1, 2, 3, T. 3-18).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THE RESPONDENT NOT GUILTY IN COUNT I AS TO RULE 5-1.1 OF THE RULES REGULATING TRUST ACCOUNTS.

The Referee's findings of fact are inconsistent with the Referee finding the Respondent not guilty as to Rule 5-1.1. The Referee's findings of fact specifically find that the Respondent had shortages in his trust account, could not meet all his trust liabilities and that Respondent used funds for purposes other than those for which they were entrusted (See paragraphs 5 and 7 of the Referee's Findings of Fact, R.R., pages 1-2).

The controverted evidence and testimony further demonstrated that the Respondent violated Rule 5-1.1 (Ex. 4-6, T. 27, 30, 40).

II. THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THE RESPONDENT NOT GUILTY ON COUNT II OF THE COMPLAINT.

The Respondent engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation in violation of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4) and Rule 4-8.4(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. In a letter dated June 18, 1988, the Respondent promised to honor an attorney's lien to Mr. Harvey Abramson, Esquire. The Respondent failed to advise Mr. Abramson of the settlement of the case until after Mr. Abramson had learned of the settlement from the client. The Respondent failed to hold any monies in trust with which to honor the lien (Exs. 1, 2, 3, T. 47, 50).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Oxner</u>, 431 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983), the Respondent was suspended for a period of sixty (60) days for misrepresentations he made to a judge. The misrepresentation made in this cause to Mr. Abramson, an officer of the court, is also serious and warrants suspension. An attorney must be able to rely on the word and integrity of another attorney as an officer of the court. <u>See The</u> Florida Bar v. Bennett, 176 So.2d 481, 482 (Fla. 1973).

III. THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE SUSPENSION FOR A PERIOD OF SIX (6) MONTHS.

The Respondent misappropriated clients' funds entrusted to him, admitted to the misappropriations and appeared to have no explanation for his misconduct. Additionally, Respondent failed to maintain minimum trust accounting records, failed to utilize proper record keeping procedures and his trust account revealed substantial shortages and irregularities which would preclude him from covering all trust liabilities (See Exs. 4, 5, 6, T. 18-42, 50-52).

The Supreme Court of Florida in <u>The Florida Bar v. Welty</u>, 382 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1980) held that conduct relating to "deficits in trust account extending over a two-year period and amounting at times to over \$24,000.00 warrants suspension for six (6) months". The Respondent in this cause engaged in similar acts of misconduct.

Notwithstanding the Referee's recommendations as to Count II of this Complaint, a six (6) months suspension in this cause is appropriate.

The Respondent misused and continued to misuse his trust account funds knowing that The Florida Bar had conducted an audit of his trust account and that the instant charges were pending (T. 53, 59-61). Suspension is appropriate in this cause based upon Count I in and of itself.

Case law supports disbarment in cases involving misappropriation even if no harm occurs to clients. <u>See</u>, <u>The Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979), <u>The Florida Bar v. DeSerio</u>, 529 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 1988), <u>The Florida Bar v. Gillis</u>, 527 So.2d 818 (Fla. 1988).

A public reprimand, as recommended by the Referee, should never be considered sufficient discipline in instances such as in this cause involving shortages in a trust account extending over two (2) years and accounting to over \$24,000.00. See, The Florida Bar v. Welty, 382 So.2d at 1223 (citing The Florida Bar v. Larkin, 370 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1979).

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THE RESPONDENT NOT GUILTY IN COUNT I AS TO RULE 5-1.1 OF THE RULES REGULATING TRUST ACCOUNTS.

The Referee specifically found that Respondent's trust account had shortages and were insufficient to cover all trust liabilities and that Respondent used funds for purposes other than that for which said funds were entrusted to him, and continued to misappropriate trust account funds knowing that the instant charges were pending (RR, paragraphs 5 & 7, pages 1-2). The Referee inconsistently recommended that Respondent be found not guilty of violating Rule 5-1.1 of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts [using funds for specific purpose for which they were entrusted]. Additionally, the uncontroverted testimony and reports of Carlos Ruga, Branch Auditor for The Florida Bar, established that Respondent used funds for purposes other than the specific purpose for which they were entrusted (Exs. 4-6, T. 27, 30, 40).

Rule 5-1.1 provides in pertinent part as follows:

Money or other property entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose, including advances for costs and expenses, is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose.

Accordingly, based upon the Referee's specific findings in paragraphs 5 and 7 of his findings of fact (pages 1-2, RR) and the uncontroverted evidence in this cause (Exs. 4-6, T. 27, 30, 40), the Referee erred in finding the Respondent not guilty of Rule 5-1.1 of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts regarding Count I of the Complaint.

II. THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THE RESPONDENT NOT GUILTY ON COUNT II OF THE COMPLAINT.

On June 18, 1985, the Respondent promised to honor the attorney's lien acquired by Harvey Abramson, Esquire, concerning fees for services performed by Mr. Abramson (The Florida Bar's Exhibit 2). Respondent's misrepresentations to Mr. Abramson in said letter and confirmed by the testimony adduced at trial warrant a determination of guilt on Count II of the Complaint.

The Respondent, as a professional, owed a duty to inform Mr. Abramson concerning a settlement obtained on behalf of Rosalia Illes, a former client of Mr. Abramson. By virtue of the agreement declared on the June 18, 1985 letter, between Respondent and Mr. Abramson, Respondent knew he needed to notify Mr. Abramson that the Illes case had settled. However, Respondent failed to advise Mr. Abramson about the settlement because Respondent knew he could not honor said attorney's lien (T. 47, 50). The record and the evidence clearly indicated that Respondent was having serious irregularities with his trust account such as transfers of funds from said trust account into his operating account without reference to client or matter, disbursements without appropriate required reference, dishonored checks and having insufficient funds to cover his trust liabilities. (The Florida Bar's Exhibits 4-6, T. 27, 31-32, 40).

The Respondent himself admitted to "taking referral fees out of any disbursement that was made and placing those in [his own] operating account," (T. 47); "there were no funds left in trust to pay Mr. Abramson," (T. 47).

As professionals, lawyers have the duty to uphold the integrity of their profession "by acting to avoid tarnishing the professional image or damaging the public which may rely upon their professional standing [and integrity]." The Florida Bar v. Bennett, 176 So.2d 481, 482 (Fla. 1973).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Oxner</u>, 431 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983), the Respondent was suspended for a period of sixty (60) days for misrepresentation he made to a judge. The misrepresentation made by Respondent in this cause to Mr. Abramson is also serious and warrants suspension. An attorney must be able to rely on the word and integrity of another attorney as an officer of the Court.

Respondent not only made misrepresentations to Mr. Abramson, a compeer officer of the Court, but knowingly failed to advise Mr. Abramson about the said settlement until after Mr. Abramson learned of same from his former client (T. 7, 50). Clearly, the record and the evidence are at odds with the Referee's finding in paragraph 10 of his report. The matter involved is not a mere disagreement concerning the fees mentioned; that is beyond the scope of inquiry in this cause.

Respondent's misrepresentation to Mr. Abramson is serious. Respondent failed to hold any funds in trust to honor said lien and has not to date paid any sums to Mr. Abramson although the client's case was settled on June 2, 1986 (T. 46). Mr. Abramson testified "that he has not pushed the matter in court because he thought he could rely on an attorney's word," (T. 9, 15).

Respondent should be found guilty of having violated Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4) of the Code of Professional Responsibility and Rule

4-8.4(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct [a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation] regarding Count II of The Florida Bar's Complaint.

III. THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE SUSPENSION FOR A PERIOD OF SIX (6) MONTHS.

The Referee determined in Count I of the Complaint that Respondent was guilty of failing to maintain and keep proper trust records. The Referee further determined that Respondent's trust account had substantial shortages and was insufficient to cover all trust liabilities, and that Respondent used funds for purposes other than for which they were entrusted. Additionally, he found that the Respondent failed to maintain minimum trust account records in violation of Florida Bar Integration Rule, article XI, Rule 11.02(4)(b) and Rules 5-1.1(b), 5-1.1(c), 5-1.1(e) and 5-1.2(b), of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts (See Report of Referee, pages 1-2).

The Supreme Court of Florida in <u>The Florida Bar v. Welty</u>, 382 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1980), held that conduct relating to "deficits in trust account extending over a two-year period and amounting at times to over \$24,000.00 warrants suspension for six (6) months." <u>Id</u> at 1223. Very similar acts of misconduct were perpetrated by the Respondent in this cause. The instant cause and the facts in <u>Welty</u> are similar in that in each case there were shortages and irregularities in the trust accounts held by both Respondents extending over a two-year period in amounts in excess of \$24,000.00 and \$28,000.00 respectively.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. DeSerio</u>, 529 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 1988), the Supreme Court of Florida held that failure to keep proper trust account records, improper commingling of funds in trust account, and improper withdrawal of funds from trust account warrant disbarment.

Count I of The Florida Bar's Complaint charged and the evidence presented established that the Respondent misappropriated clients' monies entrusted to him for his own purposes (The Florida Bar's Exs. 4-6, T. 27, 31-32, 40). The Respondent himself admitted to the misappropriations (T. 52, 60-61, 64) and appeared to have no explanation for his misconduct (T. 59-61).

The Florida Bar maintains that a six (6) months suspension is appropriate in and of itself just based upon Count I of this Complaint. Case law supports disbarment in cases involving misappropriation even if no harm occurs to clients.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979), the Supreme Court gave notice that it would not be reluctant henceforth to disbar an attorney even though no client is injured in misappropriation cases and stated that "misuse of clients' funds is one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit." Id at 785.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Gillis</u>, 527 So.2d 818 (Fla. 1988), the Respondent was disbarred for misappropriating \$350.00 from his clients.

The instant Respondent's misappropriation totalled approximately \$28,000.00 and the fact that the shortage was repaid after The Florida Bar commenced its investigation in the matter does not lessen the seriousness of the violation. (T. 25-27).

Public reprimand in this cause is inadequate because such sanction should be reserved for such instances as isolated instances of neglect.

See, The Florida Bar v. Larkin, 370 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1979). A public reprimand should never be considered sufficient discipline in instances

such as in this cause involving shortages in a trust account extending over two (2) years and amounting to over \$24,000.00. See The Florida Bar v. Welty, 382 So.2d at 1223 (citing Larkin, supra).

Most importantly in this cause, after the Respondent knew that The Florida Bar had conducted an audit of his trust account and that the instant charges were pending, Respondent continued to misuse his trust account (T. 59-61), had shortages in his trust account (T. 26-27), had three (3) checks returned for non-sufficient funds (T. 30) and again used entrusted funds for a purpose other than that for which they were entrusted (T. 40, 59-61), (See Carlos Ruga's December 17, 1988 Report). The fact that Respondent continued to use client funds after this cause was pending shows a willful and wanton disregard for the proper handling of clients' monies and certainly warrants a suspension for a period of six (6) months.

With respect to paragraph 8 of the Referee's findings of fact, The Florida Bar's audit did not reflect that the Respondent had lost approximately \$30,000.00 in fees because of his attempts to satisfy clients and referring attorneys; Mr. Abramson has not been paid yet. Furthermore, contrary to said paragraph 8, the audit did not reflect this fact. See testimony of Carlos Ruga (T. 38-39). The Respondent is the only one who testified on this point (T. 68-69). The audit does not reflect support for the Referee's findings in paragraph 8.

In addition, Respondent's misconduct involving misappropriation of clients' funds and his misrepresentations to Mr. Abramson constitute cumulative misconduct which is dealt with more severely than isolated instances of misconduct. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Baron</u>, 392 So.2d 1318 (Fla. 1981) and <u>The Florida Bar v. Bern</u>, 425 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1983).

The two counts in this Complaint are cumulative to each other as well as each count contains more than one act of misconduct. The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar approved in November, 1986 Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The applicable standards in this cause are as follows:

Standard 4.12 provides: Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knows or should know that he is dealing improperly with client property and causes injury or potential injury to a client.

The Florida Bar submits that Standard 4.12 is applicable in this cause. The Referee's findings and the evidence presented in the record demonstrate facts that were knowingly committed or should have been known,

Standard 7.2 provides: Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional, and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.

Standard 7.2 is applicable concerning Respondent's failure to advise Mr. Abramson that a settlement of the case in question had been reached and Respondent's failure to hold any funds in trust to honor the agreement he had with Mr. Abramson who has not yet been paid.

The Florida Bar submits that the findings and facts in Count I are sufficient alone to warrant a suspension for a period of six (6) months. If this Court should reverse the Referee's findings of not guilty in Count II, same would be cumulative misconduct.

For all of the above stated reasons, The Florida Bar submits that the discipline in this cause should be suspension for a period of six (6) months, requiring proof of rehabilitation pursuant to Rules 3-5.1(e) and 3-7.9 of the Rules of Discipline.

CONCLUSION

The Florida Bar respectfully requests this Honorable Court to uphold the Referee's findings of fact as to Count I, and find that the Respondent violated Rule 5-1.1 as to Count I, reverse the Referee's findings of fact as to Count II and impose a discipline of suspension for a period of six (6) months.