IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case
No.: 72,698

THE FLORIDA BAR,
Complainant,
Florida Bar Case
No.: 87-26,833 (17C)

V.

WARNER B. MILLER, III,
Respondent.
ON PETITION FOR REVIEW
INITIAL BRIEF and APPENDIX OF

RESPONDENT, WARNER B. MILLER, III

RHEA P. GROSSMAN, P.A. Counsel for Respondent 2710 Douglas Road Miami, Florida 33133-2728 (305) 448-6692

TABLES OF CONTENTS

		<u> Page</u>
TABLE OF CITAT	IONS	ii
INTRODUCTION		iv
POINTS ON APPEA	AL	v
REPLY TO STATE	MENT OF CASE AND FACTS	1
SUMMARY OF THE	ARGUMENT	7
ARGUMENT:		
ISSUES:		
ī.	THE REFEREE'S FINDING OF NOT GUILTY AS TO RULE 5-1.1 OF THE RULES REGULATING TRUST ACCOUNTS (COUNT I) IS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD	8

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar has challenged the Referee's (1) recommendation of discipline and (2) recommendation that the Respondent, WARNER B.MILLER, III, be found not guilty of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4) and Rules 5-1.1 and 4-8.4 (c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

A Referee's findings of fact are presumed correct. In the case at bar, the factual findings and corresponding recommendations of "not guilty" under review, have evidentiary support in the testimony and exhibits presented to the Referee and are not clearly erroneous.

The Referee's recommendation of a public reprimand is consistent with the factual findings in the Referee's Report, supported by the testimony of **The Florida Bar** auditor; and warranted by the conduct and attitude of the Respondent, **WARNER** B. MILLER, III.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT BE FOUND NOT GUILTY AS TO RULE 5-1.1 OF THE RULES REGULATING TRUST ACCOUNTS (COUNT I) IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The referee's finding and recommendations will be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without record support. The Florida Bar v. Marks, 492 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986). More importantly, it is the burden of The Bar, being the party seeking review, to demonstrate that a report of a referee is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. Rule 3-7.6 (c)(5), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar.

In the case, <u>sub judice</u>, the Referee's findings are neither inconsistent nor unjustified.

The only evidence presented to the Referee indicated that there were no trust violations, of any nature, prior to March, 1987, when, because of improper trust accounting procedures, Mr. MILLER wrote a check from his trust account to his operating account in the sum of \$10,000.00 which he mistakenly believed was earned fees. All clients' records, such as closing statements and ledger cards, properly reflected each trust transaction. All monies were replaced by the Respondent with his personal funds, and Respondent's trust accounting procedures are now in accordance with The Bar rules and regulations. In fact, there was nothing presented to the Referee

which even remotely indicates that Mr. MILLER took funds from his trust account as earned fees before the funds had cleared the bank or before Respondent had "earned" his fees because of any financial needs or shortages in his personal and operating accounts.

Based on the evidence presented and the conclusions properly deduced therefrom, the Referee specifically found that "the Respondent did not, by the facts intentionally or knowingly convert client property but was in fact guilty of poor bookkeeping and lack of attention to his trust account records".

There being no evidence to support a finding that the Respondent used funds from his trust account contrary to the purpose for which they were intended, the Referee's recommendation that the Respondent be found not guilty of Rule 5-1.1 of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts should be approved.

ISSUE II

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT BE FOUND NOT GUILTY AS TO COUNT II IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

No matter what standard of review is used, ⁹/ the Referee's findings and recommendations that the Respondent, WARNER B. MILLER, III, not be found guilty of violating Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4) of the Code of Professional Responsibility and Rule 4-8.4 of the Rules of Professional Conduct are supported by the testimony, exhibits and other related Rules of Professional Conduct.

The argument put forth by **The Bar** to support its position that Mr. **MILLER** engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation in violation of Rule 4-8.4(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct is based on an alleged "duty" Mr. **MILLER** owed to Harvey ABRAMSON.

First, assuming there does exist a duty between Mr. MILLER and Mr. ABRAMSON, the record evidence does not indicate that the duty was breached. Contrary to The Bar's unsupported assumptions in analyzing the testimony (see note 5, pages 3-4, supra), the Referee was presented with the following evidence:

(1) Mr. ABRAMSON received a letter from Mr. MILLER indicating that the second case with Ms. ILLES had been settled.

 $^{^{9}}$ / The Bar still has the burden to show that the Referee's recommendation that Respondent not be found guilty of Count II of the Complaint is erroneous, unlawful or unjustified. Rule 3-7.6 (c)(5), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar.

The testimony of Harvey ABRAMSON indicated that he knew of the settlement prior to the letter from the Respondent because Ms. ILLES had called him. . . not that he had to learn of the settlement from another source other than Mr. MILLER (T.7; App.15). There is nothing in the evidence to indicate when Respondent notified, in writing, Mr. ABRAMSON of the settlement, or what precipitated the letter. There is nothing in the record to indicate the time frame when Ms. ILLES told Mr. ABRAMSON that her case was settled, nor is there any evidence indicating that there was an unusual or unreasonable delay between the sending of the letter and the settlement of the claim.

"protect" the attorney's fee lien in his trust account because he had always paid referral fees from his operating account (T.47; App.55). . . and his failure to have sufficient monies in his trust account certainly was not the reason he "failed to advise Mr. ABRAMSON about the settlement". . .as argued by The Bar at page 8 of its brief.

The letter of June 18, 1985 (T.4; Ex.2; App.8) was fully complied with by Mr. MILLER. Respondent acknowledged that Mr. ABRAMSON was due fees on the two files assigned to Ms. ILLES. The fee for one of the files and the costs for both files were paid. There was a dispute as to the second fee. Respondent twice scheduled the dispute for hearing before a circuit judge as outlined in THE LETTER. It was Mr. ABRAMSON who caused a delay by having at least one of the two scheduled hearings cancelled and

in no other manner taking the initiative to reduce his lien to a "reasonable fee".

The Referee correctly recommended that the Respondent, WARNER B. MILLER, III, be found not guilty of violating Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4) of the Code of Professional Responsibility and Rule 4-8.4(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Further support of the Referee's recommendation is found in Rule 5-1.1, Rules Regulating Trust Accounts, which states:

...Controversies as to the amount of fees are not grounds for disciplinary proceedings unless the amount demanded is clearly excessive, extortionate, or fraudulent...

Decisions involving violations of Rule 4-8.4(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct and Rule 1-102 (A)(4) of the Code of Professional Responsibility involve intentional conduct on the part of the respondent. See generally, The Florida Bar v. Oxner, 431 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983); The Florida Bar v. Dykes, 513 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1987); The Florida Bar v. Ward, 472 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1985). There is nothing in the evidence presented to the Referee to indicate that Respondent, WARNER B. MILLER, III, intentionally or fraudulently tried to withhold referral fees claimed by Harvey ABRAMSON. . .Mr. MILLER, however, only wanted to pay Mr. ABRAMSON a reasonable sum that represented the work reasonably performed by Mr. ABRAMSON. Lastly, there is nothing to indicate that the conduct of Mr. MILLER and his relationship with Mr. ABRAMSON

relative to Ms. ILLES, in anyway reflects adversely on the public's image of attorneys.

ISSUE III

THE DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE IS WARRANTED, JUSTIFIED, AND SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD AND THE CASE LAW

The testimony of the auditor for **The Bar** contradicts and belies the conclusions arrived at by **The Bar** in its argument for an increased punishment.

There is little dispute with the law as cited in **The**Bar's brief at pages 11-15. . . the disagreement is with the application of that law to the evidence presented against WARNER

B. MILLER, III.

The findings of fact of the Referee are entitled to the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding. The Florida Bar v. Hawkins, 444 So.2d 961 (Fla. 1984). The factual findings support the recommended punishment and the goals of discipline enunciated in The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So.2d 1130 (Fla. 1970).

There were no "shortages in a trust account extending over two (2) years and amounting to over \$24,000.00." Similarly, there was no audit 10 / subsequent to these pending charges which reflected continued use of entrusted funds. 11 /

^{10/} The Respondent, though his counsel, stipulated to a review of Respondent's trust account for dates subsequent to the Complaint being filed (T.20; App.28). This additional review was not a subsequent charge (T.21; App.29).

 $^{^{11}}$ / The Bar points to Paragraph 8 of the Referee's Report to indicate a finding of fact which it claims is not supported by the evidence. The testimony presented on cross examination of the auditor indicated the following colloquy:

The Bar's argument that the misconduct alleged in the complaint against the Respondent constitutes cumulative misconduct which supports suspension as an appropriate discipline is without a basis in law or fact. Even if this Court should determine that Respondent is guilty of the allegations in Count II of the complaint, the theory "cumulative misconduct" relates to previous disciplinary history and cumulative misconduct of a similar nature. Mr. MILLER has no previous disciplinary history

A. [by the auditor, Carlos Ruga]: Your are talking about the Lund case.

Q.[by Respondent's counsel]: Yes.

A. Okay. There were \$30,000 that was left in the account but satisfactory he had to satisfy \$60,000.

Q. And isn't it true that he ended up with, like if you figure it out, like a ten percent fee because he ended up paying the money --

A. 9,000.

Q. Which was really his fee because he felt obligated to the client not to have to go back to the client.

A. He ended up with abut \$9,000.

Q. Out of a fee that should have been damn near close to \$50,000?

A. (No verbal response).

O. Yes?

A. I don't know what the fee should have been. I know there was a substantial amount of recovery and he kept about \$9,000. (T.38-39; App.46-47)

and the trust account violations are dissimilar to the alleagations of misconduct in Count II. The cases relied upon by The Bar do not justify the application of "cumulative misconduct" in order to increase the discipline. The Florida Bar v. Felder, 425 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1982); The Florida Bar v. Hunt, 441 So.2d 618 (Fla. 1983); The Florida Bar v. Bern, 425 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1983).

This Court recognizes that each attorney and his actions must be individually assessed in meteing out punishment. Noevertheless, the Referee must also consider prior discipline given to other attorneys in similar situations so that discipline of attorneys does not become capricious. The Florida Bar v. Breed, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979). The Bar has cited cases indicating that the recommended discipline of Respondent is too lenient and not in line with punishment suffered by other attorneys who were found guilty of similar misconduct. However, The Bar's interpretation of the seriousness of Respondent's misconduct does not correspond to the facts, evidence and exhibits presented at the hearing before the Referee.

Standard 4.11 provides that "disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer <u>intentionally</u> or <u>knowingly</u> converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury." [underlining added] The Referee found no evidence that **Mr. MILLER** acted intentionally or knowingly. . .in fact, the Referee found the converse to be true.

In line with Standard 4.11, this Court approved public

reprimands in matters relating to trust account violations in <u>The Florida Bar v. Padrino</u>, 500 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1987); <u>The Florida Bar v. Block</u>, 500 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1987); and <u>The Florida Bar v. Heston</u>, 501 So.2d 597 (Fla. 1987).

CONCLUSION

Based on the reasons, citations and record references set forth in Respondent's Initial Brief, Respondent, WARNER B. MILLER, III, requests that this court enter its order approving the Report of the Referee without any modification, change or increase to the recommended discipline.